
Addendum 3 

July 20, 2023 

South Jersey Port Corporation (SJPC) 

Request for Proposals 

 

SJPC-23-22 Broadway Terminal Solar PV Systems Project  

 

NOTICE 

 
This Addendum is considered part of this Request for Proposals and must be acknowledged with your 

submission. 

 

 

The following page(s) contain: 

  

• Proposal Opening Extension 

• Additional Site Visit Opportunity 

• Formally submitted questions and SJPC responses 

• Attachment A - Billing History and Sample Invoices 

• Attachment B – Interior Photos 

 

 

Proposal Opening Extension 

  

Due to the large volume of RFI questions received, SJPC will be extending the proposal opening date to 

Tuesday, August 15th 2023 at 11:00am. The question deadline has also been extended to Monday, July 

31st at 5pm. Any questions received after that date and time will not be answered.  

  

  

Additional Site Visit Opportunity  

  

Please be advised that South Jersey Port Corporation will be holding an additional site visit at our 

Broadway Terminal (2500 S. Broadway, Camden, NJ 08101) on Wednesday, July 26th at 8:00am. 

Participants planning to attend this site visit must notify in advance Patrick Boyle, Purchasing Manager, 

by e-mail at pboyle@southjerseyport.com. 

 

Formally submitted questions and SJPC responses 
 

Q1 We were not able to see the electric gear in the main electric room and to properly estimate the 

costs for interconnection. We would need details on the current main gear where we have to tie 

into. Can an electric diagram of the existing gear and or pictures of the main switchgear be 

provided so we can see if there are any spares or locations to tie in?  If this information is not 

available can a visit be arranged to the electric gear? 

mailto:pboyle@southjerseyport.com


A1.  You will not be connecting to our switchgear which are secondary circuits. This will not be a 

behind the meter installation. You will be connecting directly to PSE&G transmission / 

distribution primary facilities which you need to work out with them. 

Q2. Can an electric bill be provided for the main electric service so that we can see what South 

Jersey Port is paying for electric? 

A2.  Yes. See Attachment A which contains billing history and sample invoices.  

Q3.  Since the site visit occurs after the July 17 deadline for questions, will questions regarding 

anything that may be discovered during the visit be accepted? 

A3.  The deadline for questions will be extended to Monday. July 31st. 
  

Q4.  Notes on Sheet S-2 require us to field verify all existing roof conditions. There is over 500,000 sf 
to field verify, including measurements, detail conditions, and multiple core samples for each 
roof area. We will not be able to accomplish this in a single day. Can we schedule an additional 
three (3) full days to complete field verifications? 

 
A4.  An additional day for inspection will be held on Wednesday, July 26th from 8 AM until noon. 

Please provide the names to Patrick Boyle if you plan to attend. 
 

Q5.  Please confirm that we will be allowed rooftop access and access to the interior of the buildings 
during the site visits. 

 
A5.  Rooftop access and access to the interior of the buildings will be allowed during the site visits. 
See Attachment B for photos of the interiors of the building. 
 
Q6.  Please provide structural and architectural details for the demolition and infill of the penthouses 

and skylights. Please show the type of deck to be installed and how it will be attached to the 
surrounding structure. 

 
A6.  The design and details for the structural infill of the penthouses and skylights is the 

responsibility of the Proposer.  The roofing system for each building is identified on the project 
plans and in the specifications.  The framing and decking for any infill areas shall be designed to 
meet the load requirements for the roof and the solar system.  This is part of the design/build 
requirements of the project where the solar system provider shall design and provide structural 
calculations to verify the existing structure will support the proposed solar array system.  This 
includes any infill areas of the roof structure.  Refer to sections 3.9, 3.12, and 3.13 of the 
specifications. 

  
Q7.  Please confirm that all structural decking will be removed in steep-slope areas that will receive 

new metal roofing. 
 
A7.  The table on Sheet S-2 identifies the roof areas where the decking is to be removed.  This 

includes all sloped roof areas.  
  
Q8.  Please provide existing structural purlin spacing for the areas to receive new metal roofing over 

open framing. 



 
A8.  The purlin spacing may vary for the different buildings.  The Proposer is responsible to field 

verify the different spacing of the purlins. 
 
Q9.  Detail 9/D-2 shows new metal coping. Is the nailer shown in this detail existing or new? 
  
A9.  The wood nailer blocking is proposed to be new.  If there is an existing nailer in good condition, 

it may be used for the new metal coping.  This shall be reviewed by the engineer and roof 
system manufacturer in order to meet roof warranty requirements.  

 
Q10.  Some of the existing parapets that receive new coping currently have a stone/cement cap or a 

terra cotta cap. What should be done with these existing caps? 
  
A10.  The stone, concrete, or terra cotta caps shall be removed and disposed of; and a new metal cap 

shall be installed. 
 
Q11.  Is the nailer shown on gutter detail 8/D-2 new or existing? 
  
A11.  The wood nailer blocking is proposed to be new.  If there is an existing nailer in good condition, 

it may be used for the new metal coping.  This shall be reviewed by the engineer and roof 
system manufacturer in order to meet roof warranty requirements.  

 
Q12. The Roof Area Summary of Work chart on sheet S-2 calls for either no insulation (Buildings A, F, 

& N) or R-30 insulation (Buildings I, P, P-1, and P-2). Section 075400, paragraph 2.02.A.7 
specifies R-20 insulation. Which prevails, the chart in the plans, or the specification? 

  
A12.  The specification value of a minimum R-20 insulation is required.  As noted on the plans all TPO 

roof areas are required to have proper slope in accordance with the roof manufacture 
requirements.  Therefore, tapered insulation may be required to provide the minimum required 
slope.  Therefore, the R-value may vary based on the different thickness of the insulation. 

 
Q13.  Specification Section 075400 requires the new TPO roof to be fully adhered. On Sections where 

there is no insulation being installed (Buildings A, F, & N), the basis-of-design manufacturer will 
only provide the 20-year warranty if the existing wood deck is mechanically fastened with 
screws, not nails. Are the wood decks on these three (3) buildings mechanically attached with 
screws? If not, how should the assembly be modified to provide the specified warranty? 

  
A13.   All TPO roof areas shall have rigid insulation mechanically fastened to the roof deck with a 

minimum insulation thickness that meets the requirements of the roofing manufacturer in order 
to provide the required warranty.  Therefore, buildings A-1, F, & N shall have rigid insulation.  
The table on sheet S-2 shall be considered, with insulation to be provided for these roof areas. 

 
Q14.  According to the Roof Area Summary of Work chart on sheet S-2, Building N has both a wood 

and a metal deck. No new insulation is included on this building. TPO cannot be installed directly 
over metal deck without insulation or a cover board. What type and thickness of board should 
be installed over the metal deck areas on Building N? 

  
A14.   Refer to answer A13. 



 
Q15.  Specification 075400, paragraph 3.04 requires installation of an air/vapor barrier. Which 

buildings require the air/vapor barrier to be installed? If a barrier is required, please provide a 
material specification as one is not listed in Part 2 of the specification. 

  
A15.  The air/vapor barrier in section 075400, 3.04 is not required at any locations. 
 
Q16.  Specification 075400, paragraph 2.07.D.1 lists simulated standing seam ribs. On what roof areas 

will these be installed? Please provide an installation specification stating the spacing for the 
ribs. 

  
A16.  The simulated standing seam ribs in section 075400, 2.07.D.1 is not required at any locations. 
 
Q17.  Specification 075400, paragraphs 3.05.B & C outline 10 or 11 different methods for installing the 

insulation. Which should be utilized for the base layer of insulation? Which should be utilized for 
the subsequent layer of insulation? 

  
A17.  All rigid insulation is to be mechanically fastened to the roof deck.  Therefore, only items 

referring to mechanical fasteners shall apply. 
 
Q18.  Sheet S-6 shows the low-slope areas of Buildings P and P-1/P-2 with a dark gray hatch indicating 

those roofs are not included in scope. Will these areas be reroofed? 
  
A18.  The dark gray hatch for these buildings shall not apply.  Building P, P-1, & P-2 shall be included in 

the scope of work and shall have the roof removed and replaced with a new roof system as per 
sheet S-10. 

 
Q19.  Sheet S-6 shows the steep-slope areas of Building P-1/P-2 with a slanting hatch indicating those 

roofs are to be demolished. These areas are not referenced in the Roof Area Summary of Work 
chart. How should these steep-slope areas be addressed? 

 
A19.  The steep sloped areas shown adjacent to buildings P-1 and P-2 on sheets S-2, S-6 and S-10 are 

not in the scope of work and shall not be demolished. 
 
Q20.  Could you please provide us with labelling of the Docks? E.g. I am seeing on the SLDs, 

Transformers corresponding to certain docks, but we are unable to co-relate where the 
Transformer is located. If we know the Transformer locations, it would help us determine the 
Interconnection Plan. 

 
A20.  There will be no connection to the SJPC facilities.  Refer to answer A1.           
  
Q21.  Due to the fact that there will be an additional site visit on July 18th, can the question 

submission deadline be pushed back until after this date to allow for clarifications from anything 
that arises from the visit? 

 
A21.  Refer to answer A3. 
 



Q22.  Pg. 21 says the proposer must also furnish a price for all Optional Bids or Alternates requested, 
as well as all separate unit price items requested. Failure to do so will constitute an incomplete 
bid, which will be rejected by the South Jersey Port Corporation.  Alternative Bid 1 is requested 
for a behind the meter system via a PPA which the SJPC team said was not an option. Therefore, 
can this statement be adjusted so a proposal without a PPA option is not deemed incomplete 
and rejected? 

 
A22.  The Alternate 1, which is a combination of Community Solar + PPA, as shown on page 3 0f 6 of 

the proposal form, is not a requirement of the bid proposal.  Therefore, the statement on Pg. 21 
that the bid is incomplete and will be rejected does not apply for the Alternate.  

 
Q23.  Are there any fees associated with this RFP for engineering (RVE), other consultants and/or legal 

that proposal must consider when pricing their bids? 
 
A23.  There are no additional fees for RVE or consultants for SJTA.  However, this is a design/build 

type project where the proposer will be responsible for all design issues and costs associated 
with the roof replacement and solar array installation and operation.  

 
Q24.  In the insurance requirement section, it lists both “Installation Floater” and “Builder’s Risk”. 

Would SJPC require both? 
 
A24.  Based on the Proposer’s Scope of Work, either the Installation Floater or the Builders Risk may 

apply.  There is no requirement for both.  The proposer shall provide insurance that clearly 
indicates coverage for any damages to the owner’s property or loss of business. 

 
Q25.  RFP states that there is a maximum of 25-year period. The NJ community solar program allows a 

project to operate for 20 years. Would SJPC consider a 20-year lease with three 5-year 
extensions (up to 35 years)? 

 
A25.  Yes, SJPC will consider alternate time periods when reviewing the proposals.  This shall be 

clearly explained in the proposal including the responsibilities and rights each party has for 
extending the contract. 

 
Q26.  On the Bid Cost Summary Sheet, would SJPC consider including a field for “Lease payment to 

SJPC in $/MW”?  This would help compare rates easier especially given that system sizes could 
change. 

 
A26.  The Proposer is allowed to provide additional financial information or cost summaries to the Bid 

Cost Summary Form in order to further clarify their proposal for meeting the project goals. 
 
Q27.  On the Bid Cost Summary Sheet, there is a request for the “Community Solar Customer Rate 

(year 1)”. The NJ Community Solar Permanent program has not been established and this value 
is dependent on the utility cost of energy, the discount rate agreed upon by the project owner, a 
customer’s status (as low-to-moderate income) and, in some cases a customer's job (high 
discounts for first responders, etc.).  The cost of energy in $/kwh sold by a community solar 
project also has little/no bearing to the host site. Would SJPC consider removing this field? 

 



A27.  The Proposer may provide an alternate format to the Bid Cost Summary Sheet that can more 
clearly identify their costs and revenue for the project.  Also, refer to answer A26. 

 
Q28.  Is SJPC or any tenant thereof requesting or expecting to be an off taker of the community solar 

project? 
 
A28.  No 
 
Q29.  On the Bid Cost Summary Sheet, would SJPC consider adding a lease rate adjuster per $10,000 

of structural and/or utility upgrade costs (excluding standard transformer, telemetry, and 
reclosers) that may be incurred post structural and interconnection feasibility analysis?  OR is 
SJPC open to including these as exclusions to the bid lease rate? 

 
A29.  Refer to answers A26 and A27. 
 
Q30.  Does SJPC have a preferred location for the project’s transformer to be located? 
 
A30.   Not at this time.  This will have to be coordinated during the design phase. 
 
Q31.  Since the bid is for a community solar lease only, does SJPC still require a PV Watts production 

analysis or is a Helioscope design with production information acceptable? 
 
A31.  Refer to answers A26 and A27. 
  
Q32.  Is there a reason why “Experience and Qualifications” is worth the least points in the Evaluation 

Criteria? 
 
A32.  No. 
 
Q33.  Would a bid due extension be considered? The extent of the roofing scope will most likely 

necessitate multiple site visits to confirm and measure existing conditions. 
 
A33.  The bid opening date is extended to Tuesday, August 15th. 
 
Q34.  Has any ACM testing been performed on the roof and flashings with existing Bituminous 

Membranes? If so, please provide the results. This would help avoid any change orders to the 
roofing scope. 

 
A34.  There were no core samples taken of the built-up roof systems and no ACM testing of the 

existing roof and flashings.  Based on the history and age of the buildings, the demolition of the 
roof shall consider there are two layers of bituminous roofing on top of old Cellotex insulation 
installed on 2 inch thick wood decking.   

 
Q35.  Project Requirements 2.2.1.4 specifies tapered insulation for roofs A-1, F, I, P, P1/2 and N but 

does not specify tapered slope required. Please provide required slope and min thickness at 
drain/gutter. 

 



A35.  The required roof slope shall meet the roofing manufacturer's minimum requirements.  The 
minimum insulation requirement is an R-20, which will be an average over the tapered 
insulation.  The minimum thickness at low areas of drain or gutter shall be 1 ½". Also refer to 
answers A12 and A13.  

 
Q36.  Primer requirement for metal roof coating – Specification 070160-9 part 3.03.D states no primer 

is needed if adhesion test results are satisfactory to the manufacturer otherwise primer may be 
required. Has the specified manufacturer performed an adhesion test, if so, please provide 
results or provide areas on drawings where primer is needed. If adhesion test is to be performed 
as part of the work and results indicate primer is needed will a change order be authorized by 
the owner? 

 
A36.  There was no adhesion test performed. There will be no change orders approved by SJPC.  This 

is a design/build type project and any changes to the design are the responsibility of the 
Proposer. 

 
Q37. Project Requirements 3.2.1.10 specifies to replace roof joists on E-SW CORNER roof. Drawings or 

specifications do not specify size, type of joists required, drawings for attachment, or uplift 
requirements. Will structural engineering be completed in order to properly price this work? 

 
A37.  The area on the E-SW CORNER roof is identified on sheets S-2, S-3, S-7, and noted in section 

3.2.1.10.  This area shall receive structural framing over the existing flat roof area to match the 
existing sloped roof area in order to receive a metal roof system. Also refer to photos on pages 
270, 271, and 273 for this area.  This is part of the design/build contract and the responsibility of 
the Proposer. 

 
Q38.  Drawing S-2 – Roof Area Summary of Work Table – Roof Area F says proposed insulation is 

“NONE”, however Part 2: Project requirements 2.2.1.4 says to include flat and taper insulation. 
Please provide expected insulation specifications for this roof area. 

 
A38.  Refer to answers A12 and A13. 
 
Q39.  All roof sections requiring deck removal – Please specify decking type and fastening/uplift 

requirements for deck replacement. 
 
A39.  The decking to be removed is identified in the table on sheet S-2.  The metal roofing is to be 

installed on purlins unless noted.  There is no deck replacement for these areas. 
 
Q40.  What is the electric usage in total at the South Jersey Port site?  What is the electric usage at 

each of the buildings at the site? 
 
A40.  Refer to answer A2.  
 
Q41.  What obstacles and structures are going to be removed from the rooftops as part of the roofing 

project? 
 



A41.  All penthouse structures and skylights shall be removed from the rooftops.  These are shown on 
the plans and noted in the table on sheet S-2.  Structural framing shall then be constructed in 
order to support the roof and solar array system. Refer to answer A6. 

 
Q42.  Are any structural diagrams or pictures of structural for any of the buildings? 
 
A42.  There are no structural plans available for these buildings.  Interior photos of some of the 

buildings are attached. Attachment B. 
 
Q43.  Please confirm that under the Alternate Bid, the system should be designed so that some of the 

solar generation will offset the site load under a PPA pricing structure. 
 
A43.  Refer to answer A22. 
 
Q44.  Please provide annual electric usage information so we can appropriately calculate Anticipated 

Behind the Meter Power Consumption for a PPA scenario. 
 
A44.  Refer to answers A1 and A2. 
 
Q45.  The Project Proposal form asks for the Community Solar Customer Rate. Can this be filled out as 

a percentage of subscriber customer electric costs as opposed to a rate in dollars per kWh? 
 
A45.  Refer to answers A26 and A27.  
 
Q46.  Please clarify what each column in the cost structure spreadsheets are intended for. Please 

provide guidance as to how the spreadsheet should be populated. 
 
A46.  Refer to answers A26 and A27. 



South Jersey Port Corporation
Broadway Terminal Electric Bills

Street Address BROADWAY & FAIRVIEW CAMDEN CITY NJ 08104

Account Number 42 005 506 01
POD No. PE000008895352644785
Meter No. 5319814

Month Amount 12 Month Average
Jan-22 57,216.80$            
Feb-22 66,747.78$            
Mar-22 74,197.38$            
Apr-22 74,038.26$            
May-22 80,240.18$            
Jun-22 78,747.71$            
Jul-22 63,844.03$            
Aug-22 77,074.86$            
Sep-22 71,544.27$            
Oct-22 61,896.65$            
Nov-22 48,522.57$            
Dec-22 63,418.91$            68,124.12$                
Jan-23 72,371.43$            69,387.00$                
Feb-23 78,834.70$            70,394.25$                
Mar-23 82,072.82$            71,050.53$                
Apr-23 84,274.57$            71,903.56$                
May-23 66,749.33$            70,779.32$                
Jun-23 62,189.39$            69,399.46$                

Jul-23 75,174.28$            70,343.65$                































































South Jersey Port Corporation – Broadway Terminal 

 
Photo 1:  Interior – Building B 

 
Photo 2:  Interior – Building B 



South Jersey Port Corporation – Broadway Terminal 

 
Photo 3:  Interior – Building B 

 
Photo 4:  Interior – Building C 



South Jersey Port Corporation – Broadway Terminal 

 
Photo 5:  Interior – Building C 

 
Photo 6: Interior – Building C/D 



South Jersey Port Corporation – Broadway Terminal 

 
Photo 7:  Interior – Building D 

 
Photo 8:  Interior – Building D 



South Jersey Port Corporation – Broadway Terminal 

 
Photo 9: Interior – Building F 

 
Photo 10:  Interior – Building F 



South Jersey Port Corporation – Broadway Terminal 

 
Photo 11:  Interior – Building A-2 

 
Photo 12: Interior – Building A-2 
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